for the period ended 31 December 2008

ANNUAL REPORT 2008

AFRICA
OPPORTUNITY FUND
LIMITED

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited

Summary
The Company
Africa Opportunity Fund Limited (“AOF” or the “Company”) is a Cayman Islands incorporated closed-end investment
company traded on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange and is also listed and traded on the Channel Islands
Stock Exchange (“CISX”). Its net asset value on December 31, 2008 was US$59,071,909 and its market capitalization
was US$32,342,800.
Investing objective
The investing objective of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) is to achieve consistent capital growth
and income through investments in value, arbitrage, and special situations opportunities derived from the continent of
Africa. Therefore, the Group may invest in securities issued by, or economic interests created by, companies domiciled
outside Africa which conduct significant business activities within Africa or, if listed, listed either on an African stock
exchange or a non-African stock exchange. The Group may invest in equity, quasi-equity or debt instruments, debt issued
by African sovereign states and government entities, and real estate interests.
The Directors and the Manager believe that the diversity and volatility of African economies present opportunities to earn
attractive returns when investments are made selectively, across asset classes, and without pre-determined benchmarks or
allocations.
By balancing the size and type of investment, the Directors and the Manager believe that attractive returns may be made
across asset classes. Whilst the African capital markets can be volatile, by ensuring diversity of investment across industries
and countries, the Investment Manager attempts to mitigate such risks.
The Group targets industries rather than countries to exploit valuation discrepancies which can arise among African
countries. The Directors and the Manager believe also that Africa’s status as a continent containing a large number of
reforming countries provides investment opportunities in those countries.
Summary of Investment Strategy
The Group’s investment strategy is opportunistic. The Group invests primarily where and when the Manager believes that
investments can be made at a material discount to the Manager’s estimate of an investment’s intrinsic value.
Company preference. The Group prefers companies which demonstrate both high real returns on assets and an earnings
yield higher than the yield to maturity of local currency denominated government debt.
Industry focus rather than country focus. The Group seeks to invest in industries it finds attractive with little regard to
national borders.
Natural resource discounts. The Group seeks natural resource companies whose market valuations reflect a discount to
the spot and future world market prices for those natural resources.
“Turnaround” countries. The African continent is home to a large number of reforming or “turnaround” countries.
“Turnaround” countries combine secular political reform with the opening of industries to private sector participation.
Balkanized investment landscape. The Group seeks to invest in companies with low valuations in relation to peers across
the continent and uses an arbitrage approach to provide attractive investment returns.
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Point of entry. The Group seeks the most favourable risk adjusted point of entry into a capital structure, whether through
financing the establishment of a new company or acquiring the debt or listed equity of an established company.
The Company intends to be a passive investor and will generally not control or seek to control or be actively involved in
the management of any company or business in which it invests.
Investment Policies and Restrictions
The Manager adheres to the following policies and restrictions:
Geographical focus. The Group makes investments in companies or assets with a material portion of their value derived
from or located in Africa. The geographic mix of investments varies over time depending on the relative attractiveness of
opportunities among countries and regions.
Type of investment. The Group may invest in real estate interests, equity, quasi-equity or debt instruments, which may
or may not represent shareholding or management control, and debt issued by African sovereign states and government
entities. Investments may be made directly or through special purpose vehicles, joint venture, nominee or trust structures.
The Group may utilise derivative instruments to hedge certain market or currency risks and may from time to time engage
in the short sale of securities.
Investment size. At the time of investment, no single investment may exceed 15 per cent. of the Net Asset Value without
the prior approval of the Board. No one initial investment will exceed 20 per cent. of the Net Asset Value at the time of
investment.
Number of investments. The Group has, and expects to maintain, a concentrated portfolio of approximately 10 to 20
investments, excluding money market investments.
Borrowing. The Group may use overdraft and other short-term borrowing facilities to satisfy short-term working capital
needs, including to meet any expenses or fees payable by the Group. The Manager anticipates that borrowings may be
utilised for investment purposes with the prior approval of the Board. There are no limits on the Group’s ability to leverage
itself.
Cash management. Cash will be placed in bank deposits, investment grade commercial paper, government and corporate
bonds and treasury bills, in each case, of US and African issuers.

Distribution policy
The Directors will determine the Company’s dividend policy. Subject to having sufficient cash resources available for the
purpose, the Company is currently intending to pay an aggregate annual dividend of an amount equal to the product of
Net Asset Value on 1 January in each year multiplied by the one year US Dollar LIBOR rate (as derived from Bloomberg)
on the same date, which amount will be payable in four equal quarterly instalments in March, June, September and
December of that year.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Chairman’s Statement

2008 Review
2008 was a difficult year for both world markets and the Africa Opportunity Fund Ltd (“the Fund” or “AOF”). AOF ‘s
audited net asset value fell from $0.96 per share at the beginning of the year to $0.51 per share on 31 December 2008.
Including dividends, the total NAV return was a loss of 43%.
To provide some basis for comparison, in Africa Nigeria fell 54%, South Africa fell 45%, Kenya fell 47%, and Egypt fell
54%. In non-African emerging markets, China fell 63%, Brazil fell 55%, Russia fell 73%, and India fell 49%. In
developed markets, Japan fell 29%, the US fell 39%, and the UK fell 49%.1
A key disappointment in 2008 was the lack of protection provided by AOF’s fixed income investments. Although the
portfolio was weighted equally between equity and debt, the overall NAV return was more in line with an all-equity
portfolio. Despite our recognition of the widening impact of the global credit contraction soon after the Fund’s launch in
2007, and specific comment on it in the 2008 Chairman’s statement, we did not anticipate either the severity of the
contraction or its outsized impact on African and other developing markets.
Benjamin Graham and David Dodd wrote in 1934 that one of the most disturbing features of the 1927-1933 period
“is not…wild gyrations of the common-stock averages but the precipitate decline in the bond averages…which
constitutes the really novel and arresting feature of recent financial history – at least from the standpoint of
investment logic and practice”.2
Similarly for AOF, 2008 provided an important lesson that was last taught some 80 years ago: in a liquidity driven panic,
the correlation of various securities moves towards 1.0 and the diversification benefits of holding different asset classes is
severely diminished.
Looking forward over a longer time horizon, it is our opinion that holding different asset classes will provide significant
risk-adjusted benefits to shareholders of AOF. Our conviction is based on the fact that while AOF’s fixed income portfolio
is now priced to provide equity returns it also enjoys the seniority of a fixed income security. As of 31 December, AOF’s
debt investments were priced collectively at 50% of par with a 21% current yield. At that valuation, half of the debt
portfolio could default with a recovery of zero and half could mature normally, and AOF would still earn a double digit
return based solely on coupon payments. Meanwhile, in the equity portfolio, AOF holds several companies that are
market leaders with little or no debt and significant free cash generating capacity. Yet, the equity portfolio was valued at
year end on a single digit PE multiple and a double digit dividend yield. With many holdings earning a return on equity
in excess of 25%, it is reasonable to anticipate that our equities portfolio could double in market value over the next three
years.
In December AOF concluded a prime brokerage relationship with Newedge, a joint venture between the French banks
Societe General and Calyon. Our relationship with Newedge allows AOF to engage in short sales or trade derivatives such
as options and futures. In retrospect, we would have benefited from having those hedging tools at our disposal in 2008.
Amidst the turmoil that consumed the prime brokerage community at the end of the year, AOF is pleased to have the
support of Newedge and we look forward to working with them in the future.

1

Reference Indexes are calculated in US dollars using: Nigeria NSE Index, South Africa Allshare, Nairobi NSE Index, Egypt Hermes Index, Russia
MICEX Index, Brazil IBOV Index, the Shanghai composite index, the India SENSEX Index, the S&P 500, the FTSE 100, and the Nikkei 225.

2

Benjamin Graham and David Dodd, Security Analysis, (New York: McGraw-Hill, 1934), p. 3.
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Chairman’s Statement (cont’d)

Permit me to end my 2008 review with one additional comment. Certainly Francis Daniels and I, as principals of the
Manager, made our share of mistakes and we have been humbled by the market collapse and AOF losses. Furthermore,
we are painfully aware that the most apt historical analogy to 2008 is found in the troubled 1930s. The reasons for caution
today are numerous, to say the least, and worrisome imbalances persist in the world’s debt position and trade patterns.
Still, Africa shines as a growing continent. Africa’s growth prospects combined with the continuing dislocations in several
markets are throwing up some of the most attractive investment opportunities we have encountered in our careers. We
make no forecast about the general direction of markets, but are encouraged by the deep value that has been revealed.

Tender Offer
Warren Buffet has written more than once that companies often “get the shareholders they deserve”.3 In this regard, 2008
was another learning experience. When Francis and I set out to launch AOF in 2007, we had certain investors pushing
us to increase the size of the Fund. Soon after launch, many of those investors urged AOF to invest quickly. Indeed, we
were criticized at an investor conference held in early 2008 by some shareholders for being too cautious in our selection
of investments.
When the market declines intensified in September and October 2008, some of our largest shareholders requested a
return of their money. Rather than viewing the market fall as a great investing opportunity, these shareholders found
themselves in desperate need for liquidity. Thus, as the Fund’s NAV declined, a substantial discount to net asset value
materialized. At the end of the year the shares closed at $0.28, an astonishing 47% below the NAV of $0.52.
The Manager and AOF’s Board found this rather perplexing. It may be historic to see world markets down by over 40%
in a synchronous fashion, but seeing Africa down this much should not have surprised anyone. In fact, if asked to estimate
the probability that African markets could decline 30% in a year, we would answer 20%. In other words, it is reasonable
to expect it to happen one year out of five.
AOF’s large discount confirmed that AOF’s shares did not benefit from trading on two markets. As a result, AOF delisted
from the Channel Islands Stock Exchange early in 2009 to reduce related expenses.
During the last months of the year, Francis and I substantially increased our investment in the Fund. At the launch I
purchased 2 million shares and Francis purchased 1 million shares. As of the end of 2008 I own 8.2 million shares and
Francis owns 2.1 million shares.
It is an article of faith for Francis and I that AOF exists for the benefit of its shareholders. When we realized that over
50% of its shareholders needed an exit, we conducted a tender offer in February 2009 that allowed each and every
shareholder to redeem 100% of their holding. In my career I have never seen a company voluntarily conduct such a
tender. There existed a very real possibility that the members of the Board of AOF would have ended up as the
only shareholders.

3

See for example the 1979 Annual Report of Berkshire Hathaway, Chairman’s Letter, which states: “In large part, companies obtain the shareholder
constituency that they seek and deserve. If they focus their thinking and communications on short-term results or short-term stock market
consequences they will, in large part, attract shareholders who focus on the same factors...”
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Chairman’s Statement (cont’d)

As it turned out, fully 37% of shareholders chose to remain invested with AOF. There are now 42.6 million shares
outstanding, and collectively Francis and I own over 23%. Returning to Warren Buffet’s observation, AOF now finds itself
with a smaller but recommitted shareholder base: one which recognizes a discount to NAV as an opportunity, and
recognizes that investing in Africa involves risk. It is a shareholder base, in other words, that we will work hard to deserve.
Thank you for your steadfast support.

Robert C. Knapp
Chairman
June 2009
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Manager’s Report

The Fund became fully invested in 2008. Its end-of-year holdings were in Angola, Cote d’Ivoire, Democratic Republic of
the Congo, Nigeria, Tanzania, Senegal, South Africa, Zambia, and Zimbabwe. It had $25.4 million invested in debt
securities, $31.7 million in equity securities, and $2.7 million in cash.
The fears expressed in last year’s report by Africa Opportunity Partners (“we”) about the spreading dramatic contraction in
credit and the high valuations on African stock markets were confirmed by the steep declines in most African asset prices
in 2008. In light of those fears, we sought to maintain the capital value of the Fund’s portfolio by investing in debt securities
denominated mainly in African currencies such as the Tanzanian Shilling, the Ghanaian Cedi, the Zambian Kwacha and
the CFA Franc, coupled with equity investments in industries expected to expand rapidly in Africa over the next decade.
Unfortunately, our fears were more than realized and our expectations confounded. 2008 ended with the US Dollar
strengthening against most currencies and credit markets in virtual ice. The prices of many of the Company’s debt
investments fell significantly, as did the Company’s investments in companies dependent on future access to the capital
markets. Most of the Fund’s losses were concentrated in the categories of African sovereign debt, high yield corporate debt,
and equity securities issued by development stage resource companies. By the end of the year, the Company’s debt portfolio
was valued at a 50% discount to its par value, had a current yield of 21%, and a yield to maturity of 50%. Its equity
portfolio traded on a dividend yield of 6.3% and the overall portfolio’s free cash yield was 13.5%.
The 50% discount to par valuation for AOF’s debt portfolio implies that AOF’s portfolio comprises distressed securities.
Admittedly, since year end, one debt instrument experienced a delay in the payment of interest which has been cured.
Nevertheless, to date, AOF has not suffered any impairment in its debt portfolio. Yet, the market behaves as if it believes
that there is a 100% probability of default in the case of some of our investments, with the probability that AOF would
recover only 33% of its investment. We use one bond in the Fund’s portfolio to illustrate the deep skepticism confronting
some of our debt instruments.
AOF invested $3.8 million in Marine Subsea bonds maturing in February 2012. Those bonds were valued at
$1.25 million at the end of the year, or 32% of par. AOF’s bonds are part of a $110.5 million bond issue which is secured
by a 1st priority mortgage on a construction support barge and a second priority mortgage on a well intervention vessel
to be used in the offshore oil industry of Angola. Both vessels are scheduled for delivery to Marine Subsea in the second
half of 2009 after settlement of final installment fees due to the shipyard. The barge has a construction cost of $30 million
and the intervention vessel a cost of approximately $140 million. The intervention vessel has a 10 year contract with
Sonangol guaranteeing approximately $30 million per year in ebitda, and Marine Subsea already has two similar barges
working in Angolan waters. Marine Subsea announced in 2009 that it has a funding shortfall to complete the purchase
and fitting out of its vessels of about $50 million. We expect the final figure to be higher. But at 32% of par, the bond is
valued at $35 million, which is 1.2X a single year’s ebitda from the Sonangal contract, and the money required for
completion could assume the position of 1st lien against $140 million of construction cost. In short, although asset values
have fallen and vessel utilizations in the oil services sector have fallen, in our view these bond prices bear little relation to
the business prospects and long term contracts that Marine Subsea has in place. While the situation is difficult, we believe
the market is being too pessimistic.
Turbulent market conditions either confirm or confute an investor’s argument in support of a specific investment. We did
make some investing errors last year. For example, it is clear to us that, in the case of African sovereign issuers, we
underestimated their willingness to maintain sober budgetary disciplines in the face of elections in a year of rising food
and oil prices. Thus, the Ghana government ran a budget deficit exceeding 10% of its Gross Domestic Product with
harmful effects on the external value of the Cedi against the US Dollar. Our Ghanaian government bond holdings
endured not just material depreciation against the US Dollar, but also a loss of value because the yield to maturity of local
currency denominated Ghanaian government debt obligations soared over 20%.
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Manager’s Report (cont’d)

The development stage investments of AOF had an exceedingly poor year. As credit contracted globally, the first to feel
it were companies dependent upon the capital markets to fund their work programs. The mix of weak commodity prices
proved lethal, and AOF had two investments which became insolvent. Our response was to refocus on companies with
strong balance sheets and the ability to fund themselves through an extended downturn. At the end of 2008, with the
exception of Moto Gold and Zimplats, all the equity holdings of AOF were, and remain, strong free cash flow generators
which utilize modest amounts of debt. In addition, 27% of AOF’s fixed income portfolio was AAA rated. So, 2008 ended
with AOF’s portfolio possessing a robust ability to generate free cash.
The remainder of this report comprises commentary on some of AOF’s larger equity investments and a restatement of the
Manager’s investment philosophy.
Sonatel. This Senegalese integrated telephone operator listed on the Bourse Regionale de Valeurs Mobiliers
continues to be AOF’s largest investment. Its subscribers grew by 43% in 2008 to 7.3 million. Sonatel has
operations in Senegal, Mali, Guinea, and Guinea-Bissau. It has 100% of Senegal’s fixed line market, 90% of
Senegal’s internet market, 71% of Senegal’s mobile telephony market, 84% of Mali’s telephony market, 23% of
Guinea’s mobile telephony market, and 16% of the mobile telephony market in Guinea-Bissau. Lest one concludes
from Sonatel’s market share that its earnings potential is near saturation, it is worth remembering that Senegal’s
penetration rate for mobile telephony is about 43%. That ratio compares with an 80% penetration rate in South
Africa. At 29.6% for the 2008 financial year, Sonatel’s net margin was the second highest in Africa. It had the
second highest operating cash flow per telephone subscriber in Africa of $69, the lowest debt to equity ratio in its
industry of 14.5%, a debt to total assets ratio of 8.9%; and a return on equity of 31.8%. Yet, as of May 29, 2009,
with an enterprise value around $2.4 billion and a market capitalization of $2.3 billion, it had the second lowest
African telephone operator valuation with a Price/Earnings ratio of 7.7 and an enterprise value per subscriber of
$332. AOF has lost money so far on its investment in Sonatel. But, we are happy to own it because it is a rapidly
growing safe and cheap company.
Gold Fields. At a price of 110 Rands per share on May 29, 2009 and an enterprise value around $9.36 billion, Gold
Fields, the 4th largest gold producer in the world, was valued at less than 50% of the present value of the cash flow
that will be generated from its existing reserves (assuming a gold price of $950). In essence, even if the gold price
stays flat, AOF should earn an attractive return, and if the gold price rises, we would not have paid anything for
the option to earn a higher return. We will also benefit from any reduction in US Dollar denominated production
costs, which would result if the Rand loses value against the US Dollar. Gold Fields has 61.9 million gold ounces
of proved and probable reserves and 156.8 million gold ounces in resources. It mines gold in South Africa, Ghana,
Peru, and Australia. Gold Fields had a bearable debt/equity ratio of 24% at the end of 2008. It has the challenge
of refinancing more than half of that debt by 2011. It is expanding annual production to a target of 4 million
ounces in the same year that it reduces both its maintenance capital expenditure and production costs per ounce.
We anticipate that it should generate at least $150 per ounce in free cash flow at a gold price around $900 per ounce
and a Rand/Dollar exchange rate of 10. Gold Fields is the cheapest of the large gold producers.
African Bank Investment Limited. African Bank Investments Limited (“African Bank”)is the largest consumer finance
company in South Africa and Africa. It grants unsecured loans to individuals, loans secured by furniture to
individuals, and sells furniture. Its customers are members of the emerging middle class to whom it provides loans
of an average size of 7,000 Rands (or $700). By acquiring a company called Ellerines Holdings, it has entered the
furniture retail market in South Africa. The market has been uncomfortable with the pace of integration of
Ellerines’ stores into African Bank, especially as the consumer sector of South Africa is in recession. However,
African Bank’s 1639 branches constitutes the largest financial branch network in South Africa. Unlike the four
major commercial South African banks, it has no exposure to the mortgage market. Its funding strategy is rare. It
funds itself long term to make loans of shorter duration. As of the end of September 2008, its ratio of tangible
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Manager’s Report (cont’d)

shareholders equity to assets was 27.5%. African Bank’s tier 1 capital adequacy ratio was 21%. That high capital
ratio permits African Bank to incur high non-performing loans and bad debts in its market. It has a return on
average assets of 7.6% and a return on average equity of 21.0%. African Bank had a market capitalization on May
29 of 20.6 billion Rands. It traded on a Price/Earnings ratio of 12.8 and a Price/Book ratio of 1.75 and a
Price/Tangible Book of 3.79.
Addax Petroleum. Addax Petroleum (“Addax”) is the largest independent oil producer in Nigeria. Addax also
produces oil from Gabon and has development assets in Nigeria, Gabon, and Kurdistan. AOF owns some
convertible bonds and common stock issued by Addax. Addax is listed on the Toronto and London stock exchanges
and is headquartered in Geneva, Switzerland. The enterprise value of Addax at the end of 2008 was $4.1 billion,
of which $1.5 billion constituted debt. It has 536.7 million barrels of proved and probable oil reserves, annual 2008
daily production of 136,500 barrels of oil, and net profits of $774.9 million. 80% of its production comes from
the Nigerian Delta and the balance from Gabon. Addax trades on a historical Price/Earnings ratio of 3.5 and an
enterprise value per barrel of reserves of $9 at the end of the year. Even after taking into account the current low
prices of crude oil, those valuations are substantially lower than those of other top African oil producers.
Once again, we end with a restatement of our investing philosophy. The key elements of the investment strategy for AOF are:
Material discounts to intrinsic value: AOF invests primarily where and when an investment can be made at a
material discount to the Manager’s estimate of that investment’s intrinsic value.
Company preference: AOF prefers companies which demonstrate both high real returns on assets and an earnings
yield higher than the yield to maturity of local currency denominated government debt.
Industry focus rather than country focus: AOF seeks to invest in industries it finds attractive with little regard to
national borders.
National resource discounts: AOF seeks natural resource companies whose market valuations reflect a discount to
the spot and future world market prices for those natural resources.
“Turnaround” countries: The African continent is home to a large number of reforming or “turnaround”
countries. “Turnaround” countries combine secular political reform with the opening of industries to private sector
participation.
Balkanized investment landscape: AOF seeks to invest in companies with low valuations in relation to peers across
the continent and uses an arbitrage approach to provide attractive investment returns.
Point of entry: AOF seeks the most favorable risk adjusted point of entry into a capital structure, whether through
financing the establishment of a new company or acquiring the debt or listed equity of an established company.
Africa offers several attractive investment opportunities. The continuing turmoil in credit markets has revealed a number
of debt instruments trading at prices which offer equity-like returns. So, despite the difficult experience of 2008, we
consider African debt instruments to constitute a fruitful investment arena. We remain interested in industries which have
products in short supply in Africa that rely more on the domestic African economy than the global economy. In addition,
we think there are attractive investment opportunities in countries recovering from severe civil discord or civil war. We
shall continue to build a portfolio that delivers both capital growth and income to the shareholders of AOF.
Francis Daniels
Africa Opportunity Partners
June 2009
AOF Annual Report
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Portfolio review
as at 31 December 2008

Issuer

Market Value
US$
2,671,415

% of NAV

10,724,351

18.15

African Bank Investments

5,559,762

9.41

Cote d’Ivoire Government

5,022,265

8.50

African Development Bank

4,982,843

8.44

Gold Fields Inc

4,965,000

8.41

Katanga Mining

3,495,316

5.92

DiamondCorp PLC

3,274,287

5.54

Addax Petroleum

2,904,253

4.92

SAPH

2,742,474

4.64

Africa Offshore Services

2,085,500

3.53

European Investment Bank

1,982,534

3.36

Telkom SA Ltd

1,362,358

2.31

Addax Petroleum Convertible

1,262,100

2.14

Africa Offshore Services

1,248,000

2.11

Copperbelt Energy

1,199,054

2.03

Moto Goldmines

1,123,937

1.90

Marine Subsea

1,088,959

1.84

Nigerian Oil Warrants

1,000,000

1.69

Unilever CI

375,370

0.64

Artumus Group

310,622

0.53

Mart Resources

264,755

0.45

Zimplats Holdings

166,719

0.28

Cash
Sonatel

4.52

Strategy

Geography
Congo Cash
5%
8%

Cash
5%

Zambia
5%
Ivory Coast
14%

Listed
Equity
53%

Debt
42%

South Africa
25%

Tanzania
9%

Nigeria
9%
Senegal
18%
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Angola
7%

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Portfolio review
as at 31 December 2008 (cont’d)

COTE D’IVOIRE GOVERNMENT
Instrument:
Coupon:
Currency:
Maturity:
Websites:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:

Fixed Rate Sphynx Capital Markets debt instrument collateralized by Cote d’Ivoire
Government bond
10.00%
CFA Franc payable in Euro
1/28/2011
www.tresor.gov.ci; www.bceao.int
US$8,164,726
US$5,022,265

AFRICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
Instrument:
Coupon:
Currency:
Maturity:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:

AAA Rated Fixed Rate Bond
13.75%
Tanzanian shilling
5/9/2009
www.afdb.org
US$6,034,892
US$4,982,843

KATANGA MINING BOND
Instrument:
Currency of notes:
Coupon:
Maturity:
Symbol of parent company:
Website of parent company:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Bond
Canadian Dollar
14.0%
11/30/2013
KAT CN
www.katangamining.com
US$8,477,871
US$3,495,316
Bond financing the restart of the Kamoto copper and cobalt mine in the Democratic
Republic of Congo.

DIAMONDCORP PLC
Instrument:
Currency of notes:
Coupon:
Maturity:

Secured Fixed Rate Note
US Dollars
12.0%
Scheduled from month 18 (4/14/2010) and every six months thereafter through
10/14/2011
Symbol of parent company: DCP LN
Website of parent company: www.diamondcorp.plc.uk
Cost of AOF’s holding:
US$5,000,000
Value of AOF’s holding:
US$3,274,287
Principal activity:
Secured loan to South African diamond producer with amortizing repayment.
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Portfolio review
as at 31 December 2008 (cont’d)

AFRICA OFFSHORE SERVICES AS
Instrument:
Currency of bonds:
Coupon:
Maturity:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Senior Secured Floating Rate Note
US Dollars
US Dollar 3 month Libor plus 6%
6/29/2012
www.marinesubsea.no
US$8,908,973
US$2,085,500
Subsea well intervention services and construction support to the offshore West African oil
and gas industry, primarily in Angola.

EUROPEAN INVESTMENT BANK
Instrument:
Currency of notes:
Coupon:
Maturity:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

AAA Rated Fixed Rate Bond
Zambian Kwacha
12.5%
02/26/2010
www.eib.org
US$3,000,000
US$1,982,534
Bond backed by the European Investment Bank

ADDAX PETROLEUM CONVERTIBLE BOND
Instrument:
Currency of notes:
Coupon:
Maturity:
Symbol of parent company:
Website of parent company:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Fixed Rate Convertible Bond
United States Dollar
3.75%
05/31/2012
AXC CN
www.addaxpetroleum.com
US$1,095,000
US$1,262,100
Convertible bond of oil and gas production company with operations focused in West
Africa.

AFRICA OFFSHORE SERVICES AS
Instrument:
Currency of bonds:
Coupon:
Maturity:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:
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Senior Secured Floating Rate Note
US Dollars
US Dollar 3 month Libor plus 6%
2/15/2012
www.marinesubsea.no
US$3,880,500
US$1,248,000
Subsea well intervention services and construction support to the offshore West African oil
and gas industry, primarily in Angola.

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Portfolio review
as at 31 December 2008 (cont’d)

MARINE SUBSEA AS
Instrument:
Coupon:
Currency:
Maturity:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Convertible Bond
7.5%
Norwegian Kroner
9/14/2012
1.625 billion Norwegian Kroners
www.marinesubsea.no
US$5,902,488
US$1,088,959
Subsea well intervention services and construction support to the offshore West African oil
and gas industry, primarily in Angola.

NIGERIAN OIL WARRANTS
Instrument:
Currency of notes:
Maturity:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Payment Adjustment Warrants issued by Central Bank of Nigerian and guaranteed by the
Government of Nigeria
US Dollars
2020
US$2,140,000
US$1,000,000
Warrants pay US$15 twice yearly subject to certain pricing and production levels.

SONATEL
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Ordinary Shares
Bourse Regionale de Valuers Mobiliers, Cote d’Ivoire
SNTS BC
10,000,000
1.05 trillion CFA Francs
www.sonatel.sn
US$15,923,324
US$10,724,351
Fixed line and mobile telephony services in Senegal, Mali, and neighboring countries.

AFRICAN BANK INVESTMENTS LTD
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Ordinary Shares
JSE Securities Exchange, Johannesburg, South Africa
ABL SJ
792,000,000
20,671.200 million South African Rand
www.abil.co.za
US$5,810,122
US$5,559,762
South African consumer finance and microlending company.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Portfolio review
as at 31 December 2008 (cont’d)

GOLD FIELDS LTD
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Ordinary Shares
New York Stock Exchange, New York, United States
GFI US
704,238,000
9,232.56 million United States Dollars
www.goldfields.co.za
US$5,130,016
US$4,965,000
Fourth largest world gold producer, mining primarily in South Africa.

ADDAX PETROLEUM CORP.
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Common stock
Toronto Stock Exchange, Canada
AXC CN
156,582,000
5,641.661 million Canadian Dollars
www.addaxpetroleum.com
US$6,256,844
US$2,904,253
Oil and gas production company with operations focused in West Africa.

SAPH (Societe Africaine de Plantations d’Heveas)
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Ordinary Shares
Bourse Regionale de Valuers Mobiliers, Cote d’Ivoire
SPHC BC
5,112,000
48,560.210 million CFA Francs
www.saph.ci
US$3,745,819
US$2,742,474
Ivory Coast rubber plantation operator and latex processor.

TELKOM SA LIMITED
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:
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Ordinary Shares
JSE Securities Exchange, Johannesburg, South Africa
TKG SJ
520,784,000
18,946.120 million South African Rand
www.telkom.co.za
US$1,076,910
US$1,362,358
South African integrated communications service provider.

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Portfolio review
as at 31 December 2008 (cont’d)

COPPERBELT ENERGY CORP PLC
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Ordinary Shares
Lusaka Stock Exchange, Zambia
CEC ZL
1,000 million
430,000 million Zambian Kwacha
www.copperbeltenergy.com
US$1,826,758
US$1,199,054
Zambian transmitter and distributor of electricity to mining operations in the Copperbelt
region.

MOTO GOLDMINES LTD
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Common stock
Toronto Stock Exchange, Canada
MGL CN
105,445,000
339.534 million Canadian Dollars
www.motogoldmines.com
US$2,888,961
US$1,123,937
Gold exploration and development company with principal focus in the Democratic
Republic of Congo.

UNILEVER-COTE D’IVOIRE
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Ordinary Shares
Bourse Regionale de Valeurs Mobiliers, Cote d’Ivoire
UNLC BC
1,611,000
134,074.4 million CFA Francs
www.unilever.com
US$453,613
US$375,370
Producer of household and industrial oils, margarine, soaps and detergents.

THE ARTUMUS GROUP
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Common stock
Oslo Stock Exchange
AGI NO
36,728,000
26.811 million Norwegian Kroners
www.artumus.com
US$5,194,923
US$310,622
The company operates a natural gas power plant in southern Tanzania, and explores for oil
and gas in Tanzania and Mozambique.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Portfolio review
as at 31 December 2008 (cont’d)

MART RESOURCES INC.
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Common stock
Venture Market of the Toronto Stock Exchange
MMT CN
297,192,000
31.205 million Canadian Dollars
www.martresources.com
US$3,055,316
US$264,755
Oil exploration and production in marginal oil fields in the Niger Delta.

ZIMPLATS HOLDINGS
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Market capitalization:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:

Ordinary Shares
Australia Stock Exchange
ZIM AU
107,638,000
861.101 million Australian Dollars
www.zimplats.au
US$571,173
US$166,719
Zimplats mines platinum and palladium from the Great Dyke in Zimbabwe.

CLARK SUSTAINABLE RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT INC.
Instrument:
Listing:
Symbol:
Shares outstanding:
Website:
Cost of AOF’s holding:
Value of AOF’s holding:
Principal activity:
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Common Stock
Private Company
N/A
55.6 million
www.csrdevelopments.com
US$651,176
US$0
Inchoate 27 year right to harvest up to 350,000 hectares of timber under the waters of
Lake Volta in Ghana.

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Qualitative risk disclosures for the Company

Introduction
Investment in Africa contains elements of risk. The qualitative risk disclosures section describes how the Company
manages the risk of loss of capital of the Group. Loss of capital may arise from market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, or
operational risk. Market risk comprises the possibility of loss of capital arising from movements in interest rates, equity
prices, or currencies against the US Dollar, the reporting currency of the Group. Credit risk, in turn, is the possibility of
loss of capital of the Group arising from a failure of the issuer of a debt instrument to repay the principal or interest of
that instrument in accordance with its contractual terms. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group, even if it has adequate
capital resources, does not have enough financial resources to meet its obligations as they fall due or can secure them at a
high cost. Operational risk is the possibility of the Group suffering from inadequate or failed internal processes, people,
systems or external events.

Market risk
African capital markets have suffered from high inflation, extreme depreciations (or appreciation) of African currencies
against the US Dollar, the effects of huge changes in the gross domestic product of a country because of that country’s
dependence on the export of one or two commodities, adverse weather conditions, severe power outages, unpredictable
regulatory frameworks and political disasters. It is difficult for the Company to design systems to protect itself against
such potential calamities. But, caution, judgment, experience and knowledge of the political economies of the different
African countries can mitigate the susceptibility of the Group to those dangers.
Where possible the Company does seek to limit its market risk. However, the menu of options are limited, as foreign
exchange controls, double digit nominal interest rates, small and illiquid stock markets, prohibitions on foreign
participation in local government debt markets, and the illegal nature of short selling characterize several African
economies. Consequently, the Company invests where possible in a variety of investment instruments and currencies
spread across the continent, and focuses upon nominal high yielding debt instruments, preferably with a real inflationadjusted return, and undervalued equities.
Although the Company seeks to create a concentrated investment portfolio, it has limits on the degree of concentration
of the portfolio as part of its market risk management strategy. At the time of an investment, no single investment may
exceed 15 percent of the net asset value of the Group without the prior approval of the Board. The Group may not make
an initial investment which will exceed 20 percent of the Company’s net asset value at the time of investment.
Assuming that the balance sheet on 31 December 2008 were to remain constant and no actions were taken to alter the
existing interest rate, equity price, or currency sensitivity: a hypothetical 1% increase in interest rates would have reduced
the Company’s net assets by 0.64%; a hypothetical 30% decrease in equity prices would have reduced the Company’s net
assets by 15.56 %; a hypothetical 30% decrease in the value of all non reporting currencies against the US Dollar would
have reduced the Company’s net assets by 21.26%.

Credit risk
The Company aims to minimize its credit risk. The Company, through the Manager, seeks to manage credit risk by
ensuring that no single investment exceeds 15 percent of the net asset value of the Group without the prior approval of
the Board. In addition, the manager seeks to extend credit to either credit worthy issuers or issuers issuing instruments
supported by adequate collateral.

Liquidity risk
The Company considers its current liquidity risk to be modest because it has not incurred any debt.

AOF Annual Report

17

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Qualitative risk disclosures for the Company (cont’d)

Operational risk
The Company seeks to limit the operational risks of the Group by dispersing oversight and control of its assets among
different institutions with a contractual duty to check each other. The records of the Company are maintained by an
administrator independent of the Manager, each director of the Manager, and each director of the Company. The assets
of the Group are entrusted to custodians which are independent of the Manager and the Company’s administrator.
Instructions to the custodian must be in writing and signed by a representative of the administrator and a representative
of the Manager. The administrator prepares written instructions for the disbursement of funds only after the submission
of actual invoices, in the case of expenses, by service providers to the Company or trade instructions in the case of
investments. Authorized trade instructions implemented by the administrator and the custodian lead to either the receipt
of securities by a custodian or the receipt of cash by a custodian when the Group sells a security. The custodian has backup
plans, offsite places to ensure an ability to conduct operations in the event of a disaster.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Directors’ details

Directors’ details
Robert C. Knapp-Chairman (42 years) (Non-independent, non-executive Chairman).
Mr. Knapp is a principal of Ironsides Partners LLC, a firm he founded in 2007. He worked for 10 years as a fund manager
at Millennium Partners, L.P. in New York. Millennium is a multi-strategy investment fund with over $10 billion in assets
under management, and is a substantial investor in AOF. Mr. Knapp is a director of Africa Opportunity Partners, the
investment manager of AOF. He is also the lead independent director of MVC Capital, Inc., an investment company
listed on the New York Stock Exchange. Mr. Knapp specializes in emerging markets, natural resources, distressed debt,
and closed end fund arbitrage. He holds a BSc degree in engineering from Princeton University and a BA degree in
Philosophy, Politics, and Economics from Oxford University.
Francis Daniels (50 years) (Non-independent, non-executive director).
Mr. Daniels is a director of Africa Opportunity Partners, the investment manager of AOF. Mr. Daniels has more than
10 years of investing experience in Africa. He is a member of the board of directors of TA Holdings Ltd., a Zimbabwean
stock-exchange listed company. Mr. Daniels is an attorney admitted to practice in the State of New York. He holds a LL.B
degree from the University of Ghana, a LL.M degree from the University of Toronto, a LL.M degree and a LL.M
(Corporations) degree from New York University Law School.
Christopher John Agar (49 years) (Non-executive director).
Mr. Agar is the Financial Investment Securities Head, Laxey Partners Limited. He joined BZW Limited as Director of
Investment Trusts in 1981. He specialized in Research and Sales of Investment Trusts and moved to UBS Limited.
Mr. Agar held various positions at UBS Limited: Executive Director of Closed End Funds, Head of Sales, Research and
IT. He also sat on a number of committees, Member of Managing Committee and Chair of New Business Committee.
He is a director of Spring Farm Partnership, a farming and livestock company.
Myma Adwowa Belo-Osagie (55 years) (Non-executive director).
Dr Belo-Osagie is a member of the New York, Ghana and Nigeria Bars and is a member of the American Bar Association.
She is a practicing barrister and the Managing Partner in Udo, Udoma & Belo-Osagie, a leading Nigerian corporate law
firm. Dr. Belo-Osagie graduated from the University of Ghana with a LL.B degree. She obtained a LL.M degree and a
SJD degree from Harvard Law School.
Christopher Marcus Gradel (38 years) (Non-executive director).
Mr. Gradel is a co-founder of Pacific Alliance Investment Management Limited, the investment manager for Pacific
Alliance Asia Opportunity Fund (“PAX”), and Pacific Alliance Private Equity Limited, the investment manager of
ARC Capital Holdings Limited (“ARCH”). Both PAX and ARCH are funds listed on the Alternative Investment Market
of the London Stock Exchange that invest in China. Mr. Gradel is also the co-founder of VinaCapital Group Limited, an
asset management, corporate finance and real estate consulting firm based in Vietnam. He has a Joint Masters degree in
Engineering, Economics and Management from Oxford University.
Shingayi Stanley Mutasa (50 years) (Non-executive director).
Mr. Mutasa is the executive chairman of TA Holdings, a Zimbabwean stock-exchange listed company. TA Holdings is a
holding company with insurance, insurance brokerage, hotels, and fertilizer operations. Mr. Mutasa graduated from the
University of London with a BA degree in Economics.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Report of the Directors

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008.

Principal activity
The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment company.
A review of the business of the Company is set forth in the Manager’s Report.

Results and dividend
The loss after tax for the period was US$49,987,104. The results of the Company for the period ended 31 December 2008
are set forth on page 33. Subject to having sufficient cash resources available for the purpose, AOF intends to pay an
aggregate annual dividend of an amount equal to the product of its net asset value on January 1 in each year multiplied by
the one year US Dollar London Interbank Offered Rate (as derived from Bloomberg) on that date, which amount will be
payable in four equal quarterly instalments in March, June, September and December of that year. During 2008 AOF paid
an aggregate dividend of $5,486,263 at a rate of $0.0113 per quarter or $0.0452 annually.

Status
The Company was incorporated with limited liability on 21 June 2007 and is registered in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company, under registration number MC-188243. As a closed-ended investment company, the Company is not
regulated as a mutual fund in the Cayman Islands and is not otherwise subject to regulatory review in its place of
incorporation. However, the Company is subject to the AIM Rules for Companies as published by the London Stock
Exchange from time to time and is subject to the listing rules of the CISX.

Subsidiary companies and affiliates
The Company is the ultimate holding company of Africa Opportunity Fund (GP) Limited, a company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands on 22 June 2007 under registration number MC-189739, and is the principal limited partner of the
Africa Opportunity Fund L.P., an exempted limited partnership registered in the Cayman Islands on 25 June 2007 under
registration number MC-20466 (“the Limited Partnership”).

Share interests
Save as set out below, pursuant to notices delivered to us by such persons, the Directors are not aware of any person,
directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, interested in ten percent or more of the issued share capital of the Company:
Name
QVT Financial L.P.
Millennium Partners L.P.
Metage Special Emerging Markets Fund
The Tudor BVI
Global Portfolio L.P.

Number of Shares

Percentage

25,188,000
22,050,000
18,000,000

21.81%
19.09%
15.58%

13,750,000

11.90%

Directors
The present members of the board of directors are listed on page 19.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Report of the Directors (cont’d)

The interests (all beneficial) of the current Directors and their connected persons in the ordinary shares of the Company
on 31 December 2008 are set out below:
Name
Robert Knapp
Francis Daniels
Christopher Gradel
Christopher Agar
Myma Belo-Osagie

Number of Ordinary Shares
8,213,000
2,112,827
250,000
100,000
100,000

There have been no changes to the interests disclosed above between the year end and the date of this report.

The Manager
Africa Opportunity Partners Ltd. is the Company’s manager. It has been engaged under the terms of a management
agreement (the “Management Agreement”), effective from 18 July 2007. Robert Knapp and Francis Daniels
(the “Executive Team”) are directors of the Manager and are beneficially interested in the Manager. The Management
Agreement is terminable by either party on a minimum of one year’s notice expiring on or at any time after the fourth
anniversary of the effective date of the Management Agreement.
The Manager is entitled to a management fee equal to 1⁄4 of 2 percent of the quarterly net asset value of the Company
payable in US Dollars quarterly in advance. In addition, through their beneficial interests in AOF CarryCo Ltd., one of
the limited partners of the Limited Partnership, the Executive Team is entitled, together with Millennium Special
Opportunities Holdings Limited, to share an annual aggregate carried interest from the Limited Partnership equivalent
to 20 percent of the excess of the net asset value (as at 31 December in each year) over the sum of (i) the annual
management fee for that year and (ii) a non-compounding hurdle amount equal to the net asset value as at 31 December
in the previous year, as increased by the one year US Dollar London Interbank Offered Rate (as derived from Bloomberg)
calculated on that date. The carried interest is subject to a “catch up” and a “high watermark” requirement. Details of fees
paid and payable can be found in note 14 in the Notes to the Accounts on page 46.

Corporate Governance
There is no applicable regime of corporate governance to which directors of a Cayman Island company must adhere over and
above the general fiduciary duties and duties of care, diligence and skill imposed on such directors under Cayman Island law.
However, the directors recognize the value of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance issued by the Financial
Reporting Council in June 2006 and will take appropriate measures to ensure that the Company complies, as far as is
practicable and to the extent appropriate given the Company’s assets, liabilities and other relevant information. In addition,
the Company is subject to the Model Code for Securities Transactions for Directors of listed companies on the CISX.
Since all Directors are non-executive, the principles of the Combined Code in respect of executive directors’ remuneration
are not applicable and, accordingly, the Board of Directors of the Company has not appointed a remuneration committee
as it is satisfied that any relevant issues can be properly considered by the Board as a whole.
However, the Company has established a Management Engagement Committee which meets formally at least on an
annual basis to consider the performance and the remuneration of the Manager. The Management Engagement
Committee comprises all the members of the Board other than Robert Knapp and Francis Daniels. Christopher Agar is
the chairman of this committee.
The Company has also established an Audit Committee which comprises all the members of the Board other than
Robert Knapp and Francis Daniels. Chris Gradel has been appointed the chairman of the audit committee. The Audit
Committee meets at least three times in each twelve month period.
AOF Annual Report
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Report of the Directors (cont’d)

The Management Agreement sets out the matters over which the Manager has authority and the limits above which Board
approval must be sought.
The Board meets at least four times a year and receives full details of the Company’s assets, liabilities, and other relevant
information in advance of meetings. Directors may seek independent professional advice on any matter that concerns
them, at the expense of the Company, in furtherance of their duties.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group’s financial statements in accordance with
applicable Cayman Islands law and regulations. Cayman Island company law requires the Directors to prepare Group
financial statements for each financial year. Pursuant to the AIM Rules for Companies, the Group is required to prepare
group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and have elected to
prepare the Group financial statements on that basis.
The financial statements are required by law and IFRS to present fairly the financial position of the Group and the
financial performance and cash-flows of the Group for the relevant period.
In preparing the Group financial statements, the Directors are required to:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
Make judgments and estimates which are reasonable and prudent;
State whether the financial statements have been prepared in compliance with IFRS, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained therein;
Present information, including accounting policies, in a manner which provides relevant, reliable, comparable,
and understandable information;
Provide additional disclosures where compliance with the specific requirements of IFRS are considered to be
insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, events and conditions on the
financial position and performance;
Prepare financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group or
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for maintaining proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with IFRS and
all applicable company law. The Directors also have a general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably available
to them, and for ensuring their third party service providers take similar reasonable steps, to safeguard the assets of the
Group and to prevent or detect fraud and other irregularities.

Directors’ Confirmation
The Directors listed on page 19, being the persons responsible within the Company, hereby confirm to the best of their
knowledge:
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•

That the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards and
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company; and

•

The Chairman’s Statement and Manager’s Report collectively comprise the Management Report and includes a
fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Company, together with
the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Company.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Independent Auditors’ report to the members

Report on the financial statements
We have audited the financial statements of Africa Opportunity Fund Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) on
pages 28 to 55 which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2008 and the consolidated income
statement, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements on pages 28 to 55 give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2008, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

ERNST & YOUNG

LI KUNE LAN POOKIM, A.C.A, F.C.C.A.
Signing Partner

Port Louis
Mauritius
Date: 04 Jun 2009
AOF Annual Report
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2008

Revenue
Interest income
Dividend income
Other income

EXPENSES
Management fee
Custodian, secretarial and administration fees
Brokerage fees and commissions
Audit fees
Directors’ fees
Other operating expenses
Losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Realised exchange loss

Note

2008
USD

2007
USD

5

6,150,183
1,606,923
139,595

2,481,336
-

7,896,701

2,481,336

2,010,654
549,410
485,588
52,500
120,000
129,362
53,856,788
679,503

1,057,414
616,912
45,028
34,500
54,658
186,027
656,347
-

57,883,805

2,650,886

6

Loss for the period

(49,987,104)

(169,550)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Minority interest

(49,658,231)
(328,873)

(166,028)
(3,522)

(49,987,104)

(169,550)

(0.4056)

(0.0013)

Basic loss per share for loss attributable to the equity holders of the
Company during the period

13

The notes on pages 32 to 55 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2008

Notes

2008
USD

2007
USD

57,140,459
1,294,247
2,671,415

4,535,754
52,632,051
2,553,189
61,827,336

61,106,121

121,548,330

1,155,100
107,741,068
(49,824,259)

1,250,000
119,489,981
(166,028)

Shareholders’ interests
Minority interest

59,071,909
417,605

120,573,953
746,478

Total equity

59,489,514

121,320,431

1,616,607

227,899

61,106,121

121,548,330

ASSETS
Held-to-maturity financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

7
8
9
10

Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Share capital
Share premium
Retained losses

LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables

11

12

Total equity and liabilities

Approved by the Board on 4 June 2009 and signed on its behalf by:

Director

Director

The notes on pages 32 to 55 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Consolidated Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2008

ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Issued
capital
USD
Issue of shares

Share
premium
USD

1,250,000

123,750,000

-

-

Capital contribution

-

-

Loss for the period

-

-

(166,028)

1,250,000

119,489,981

(166,028)

Shares buy back

(94,900)

Loss for the year

-

Dividend

-

At 31 December 2008

(6,262,650)
(5,486,263)

1,155,100 107,741,068

-

125,000,000
(4,260,019)

-

(49,658,231)
(49,824,259)

(166,028)
120,573,953
(6,357,550)
(49,658,231)
(5,486,263)
59,071,909

The notes on pages 32 to 55 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Minority
interest
USD

Total
USD

Issue costs

At 31 December 2007

(4,260,019)

Retained
losses
USD

Total
Equity
USD
-

750,000
(3,522)
746,478
(328,873)
417,605

125,000,000
(4,260,019)
750,000
(169,550)
121,320,431
(6,357,550)
(49,987,104)
(5,486,263)
59,489,514

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2008

2008
USD
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year/period

2007
USD

(49,987,104)

(169,550)

Adjustment for:
Interest income
Losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Dividend income
Gain on disposal of held-to-maturity investment

(6,150,183)
53,856,788
(1,606,923)
(139,595)

(2,481,335)
656,347
-

Operating loss before working capital changes
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables and prepayments
Increase in other payables and accrued expenses

(4,027,017)
1,258,942
83,445

(1,994,538)
(2,215,921)
227,899

(2,684,630)

(3,982,560)

Interest received
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Disposal of held-to-maturity financial assets
Disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Dividend received

6,185,937
(76,022,332)
4,639,595
17,657,136
1,606,923

2,108,313
(57,788,398)
-

Net cash used in operating activities

(48,617,371)

(59,662,645)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares
Dividend paid
Shares buy back
Capital contribution

(4,181,000)
(6,357,550)
-

120,739,981
750,000

Net cash flow (used in)/generated from financing activities

(10,538,550)

121,489,981

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalent at the start of the year/period

(59,155,921)
61,827,336

61,827,336
-

Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the year/period

2,671,415

61,827,336

The notes on pages 32 to 55 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION
Africa Opportunity Fund Limited (the “Company”) was launched with an Alternative Market Listing “AIM” in
July 2007. A secondary listing was obtained on the Channel Islands Stock Exchange (“CISX”) in November 2007.
Africa Opportunity Fund Limited is a closed-ended fund incorporated with limited liability and registered in
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law on 21 June 2007 and with registered number MC-188243. The
Company is domiciled at PO Box 309 GT, Ugland House, South Church Street, George Town, Grand Cayman,
Cayman Islands.
The Company aims to achieve capital growth and income through investment in value, arbitrage, and special
situations investments in the continent of Africa. The Company therefore may invest in securities issued by
companies domiciled outside Africa which conduct significant business activities within Africa. The Company will
have the ability to invest in a wide range of asset classes including real estate interests, equity, quasi-equity or debt
instruments and debt issued by African sovereign states and government entities.
The Company’s investment activities are managed by Africa Opportunity Partners Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and acting as the investment manager pursuant to an Investment
Management Agreement dated 18 July 2007.
To ensure that investments to be made by the Company, and the returns generated on the realisation of
investments, are both effected in the most tax efficient manner, the Company has established Africa Opportunity
Fund L.P. as an exempted limited partnership in the Cayman Islands. All investments made by the Company will
be made through the limited partnership. The limited partners of the limited partnership are the Company, AOF
CarryCo Limited and Millenium Special Opportunities Holdings Ltd. The general partner of the limited
partnership is Africa Opportunity Fund (GP) Limited.

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied from the prior year to the current year, except that in the current year the
Group adopted new interpretation as listed below:

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as follows:The Company has adopted the following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations as of 1 January 2008.
IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 - Company and Treasury Share Transactions
IFRIC 12 - Service Concession Arrangements
IFRIC 14 IAS 19 - The limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction.
The adoption of IFRIC 11 IFRS 2, IFRIC 12 and IFRIC 14 IAS 19 has had no material impact on the accounting
policies of the Company and the methods of computation in the Company’s financial statements.

Statement of compliance
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)
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Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the fair valuation
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires the Board of Directors to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(referred to as the “Group”) as at 31 December 2008.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using
consistent accounting policies.
All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full.
Minority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not held by the Group and are presented
separately in the Income Statement and within equity in the Statement of Changes in Equity from parent
shareholders’ equity.

Foreign currency translation
(a)

Functional and presentation currency
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in USD which is the Group’s functional
currency. That is the currency of the primary economic environment in which Africa Opportunity Fund
Limited (“the Company”) operates. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. The
functional currency of the entities within the Group is USD. The Group chose USD as the presentation
currency.

(b)

Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rate prevailing at the date
of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
functional currency spot rate of the exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the
income statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value is determined.
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Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables and held-to-maturity financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial
assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
(i)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception are those that are managed and
their performance evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with the Group’s documented investment
strategy. The Group’s policy is for the Investment Manager and the partners to evaluate the information
about these financial assets on a fair value basis together with other related financial information.
The Group determines the classification of its financial assets on initial recognition and, where allowed and
appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year end.
Recognition
Regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date which is the date on
which the Group commits to purchase the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the market place.
Measurement
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments
not at fair value through profit or loss directly attributable transactions costs. Gains and losses arising from
changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are presented in
the income statement in the period in which they arise. Interest income from financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss is recognised in the income statement within interest income using the effective interest
method. Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the income
statement within dividend income when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

(ii)

Held-to-maturity financial assets
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities are classified as held
to-maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial
measurement held-to maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the investments
are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

(iii)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivatives financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. Such financial assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement when the loan and receivables
are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.
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(iv)

Fair value estimation
Securities listed on a stock exchange or traded on a regulated market are valued as of the last closing price on
such exchange or market. If no such price is available, the price is determined as the mean of the bid and ask
price for such day. If no such price is available or if the market price is not representative of the fair market
value, the security is valued based on quotations readily available from principal-to-principal markets,
financial publications, recognised pricing services or upon the good faith estimate of fair value in accordance
with IFRS, in consultation with the Investment Manager.

(iv)

Fair value estimation
Private securities without public markets or the availability of indicative quotes are valued by the Investment
Manager at its best approximation of fair value. The Investment Manager utilises financial models to value
these investments utilising multiple investment methodologies or techniques as appropriate, including
discounted cash flows, comparative evaluations, etc.

(v)

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset is impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is recognised
in profit or loss.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed, to the extent
that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. Any subsequent reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:
•
•
•

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
The Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them
in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; or
The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised
to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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Financial liabilities
Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expired.
When an existing liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding
discounts, rebates and sales taxes or duty.
Interest income:
Revenue is measured as interest accrues using the effective interest rate.
Interest on bonds and debentures:
Revenue is measured as interest accrues using the effective interest rate.
Dividend income:
Revenue is recognised when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established.

Other payables
Other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Provision
A provision is recognised when and only when there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, and it is probable that an outflow embodying economic benefits will be required to settle that obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet
date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
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Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if they have the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the Group or exercise significant influence over the Group in making
financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Company is subject to common control or common
significant influence. Related parties may include key management personnel and close family members.

Dividend distribution
Dividends are declared and paid to the shareholders when the directors are satisfied that the Company has sufficient
cash resources to do so.

3.

STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS TO EXISTING STANDARDS
THAT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE
IAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of Financial Statements and Amendments to IAS 32, Financial Instruments:
Presentation
Effective 1 January 2009. The standard requires entities to change their presentation of primary statements. The
major changes include (i) all items of income and expense (including those accounted for directly in equity) are
required to be presented either in a single statement (a ‘statement of comprehensive income’) or in two statements
(a separate ‘income statement’ and ‘statement of comprehensive income’); and
(ii) the statement of changes in equity will include only details of transactions with owners, while all non-owner
changes in equity presented as a single line, total comprehensive income, with details included in a separate
statement. When an entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective restatement or
reclassification of items in its financial statements, it will be required to present a statement of financial position as
at the beginning of the earliest comparative period.
IFRS 7 - Financial instruments: Disclosures (Revised March 2009), effective for annual periods beginning after 1 July
2009
In March 2009, the IASB issued its final amendment to IFRS 7 with a view to improving disclosures of the financial
instruments. The changes will enhance the disclosures about liquidity risk and fair value.
IFRS 8 - Operating Segments
Effective 1 January 2009. IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14 and aligns segment reporting with the requirements of the US
standard - Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 131, ‘Disclosures about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information’. The new standard requires a ‘management approach’, under which segment
information is presented on the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes. The directors assess that
there will be no material impact on the financial statements following the adoption of this standard.
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IAS 23 Borrowing Costs
Revised IAS 23 Borrowing costs was issued in March 2007, and becomes effective for financial years beginning on
or after 1 January 2009. The standard has been revised to require capitalisation of borrowing costs when such costs
relate to a qualifying asset. A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get
ready for its intended use or sale. In accordance with the transitional requirements in the Standard, the Group will
adopt this as a prospective change. Accordingly, borrowing costs will be capitalised on qualifying assets with a
commencement date after 1 January 2009. This standard is not applicable to the Group.
Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
On 31 July 2008, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) published amendments to IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement which provide clarification on two issues in relation to hedge
accounting:
•

identifying inflation as a hedged risk or portion; and

•

hedging with options.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
IFRIC 16 - Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
IFRIC 16 was issued in July 2008 and becomes effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 October 2008.
The interpretation is to be applied prospectively. IFRIC 16 provides guidance on the accounting for a hedge of a
net investment.
As such, it provides guidance on identifying the foreign currency risks that qualify for hedge accounting in the
hedge of a net investment; where hedging instruments may be held in the hedge of a net investment; and, how an
entity should determine the amount of foreign currency gain or loss, relating to both the net investment and the
hedging instrument, that should be recycled in disposal of the net investment. The Group is currently assessing
which accounting policy to adopt for the recycling on disposal of the investment.
IFRS 3R Business Combinations and IAS 27R Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
Revised IFRS 3 replaces IFRS 3 as issued in 2004 and comes into effect for business combinations for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
The revised standards were issued in January 2008 and become effective for financial years beginning on or after
1 July 2009. IFRS 3R introduces a number of changes in the accounting for business combinations occurring after
this date that will impact the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition
occurs, and future reported results. IAS 27R requires that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary
(without loss of control) is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such transactions will no longer give
rise to goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the amended standard changes the accounting
for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. Other consequential amendments
were made to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, IAS 12 Income Taxes, IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates, IAS 28 Investment in Associates and IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. The changes by IFRS 3R
and IAS 27R will affect future acquisitions or loss of control and transactions with minority interests. The standards
may be early applied. However, the Group does not intend to take advantage of this possibility.
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IAS 27 (Amended) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
Amended IAS 27 is issued to enhance the relevance, reliability and comparability of the information that a parent
entity provides in its separate financial statements and in its consolidated financial statements for a Company of
entities under its control. The amendments shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
However an entity shall not apply these amendments for annual periods beginning before 1 July 2009 unless it also
applies IFRS 3 as revised in 2008. The directors assess that there will be no material impact on the financial
statements following the adoption of this standard.
IFRS 5 - Non-current Assets held for sale and Discontinued operations (Revised May 2008), effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009
The amendment is part of the IASB’s annual improvements project published in May 2008. The amendment
clarifies that all of a subsidiary’s assets and liabilities are classified as held for sale if a partial disposal sale plan results
in loss of control. Relevant disclosure should be made for this subsidiary if the definition of a discontinued
operation is met. A consequential amendment to IFRS 1 states that these amendments are applied prospectively
from the date of transition to IFRSs. The group will apply the IFRS 5 (Amendment) prospectively to all partial
disposals of subsidiaries from 1 January 2010. However, this standard is not applicable to the Group.
IAS 18 - Revenue
The term ‘direct costs’ has been replaced with ‘transaction costs’, as defined in IAS 39. The directors assess that there
will be no material impact on the financial statements following the adoption of this standard.
IAS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Puttable Financial
Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation
These amendments to IAS 32 and IAS 1 were issued in February 2008 and become effective for financial years
beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The revisions provide a limited scope exception for puttable instruments to
be classified as equity if they fulfil a number of specified features. The directors assess that there will be no material
impact on the financial statements following the adoption of this standard.
IAS 36 - Impairment of assets, (Revised May 2008), effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
When discounted cash flows are used to estimate ‘fair value less cost to sell’ additional disclosure is required about
the discount rate, consistent with disclosures required when the discounted cash flows are used to estimate ‘value
in use’. The directors assess that there will be no material impact on the financial statements following the adoption
of this standard.
IAS 38 - Intangible Assets (Revised May 2008), effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
Expenditure on advertising and promotional activities is recognised as an expense when the Group either has the
right to access the goods or has received the services.
The reference to there being rarely, if ever, persuasive evidence to support an amortisation method of intangible
assets other than a straight-line method has been removed. However, this standard is not applicable to the Group.
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IAS 39 and IFRS 7 - reclassification of financial assets (issued 13 October 2008), effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 July 2008
Changes in circumstances relating to derivatives are not reclassifications and therefore may be either removed from,
or included in, the ‘fair value through profit or loss’ classification after initial recognition. The reference in IAS 39
to a ‘segment’ when determining whether an instrument qualifies as a hedge has been removed. The use of the
revised effective interest rate when remeasuring a debt instrument on the cessation of fair value hedge accounting
will be required. The directors assess that there will be no material impact on the financial statements following the
adoption of this standard.
IAS 40 - Investment Property (Revised May 2008), effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
Revision of the scope such that property under construction or development for future use as an investment
property is classified as investment property. If fair value cannot be reliably determined, the investment under
construction will be measured at cost until such time as fair value can be determined or construction is complete.
Also, the conditions for a voluntary change in accounting policy has been revised to be consistent with IAS 8. It
has further been clarified that the carrying amount of investment property held under lease is the valuation
obtained increased by any recognised liability. However, this standard is not applicable to the Group.
IAS 41 - Agriculture (Revised May 2008), effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
The reference to the use of a pre-tax discount rate to determine fair value has been removed. The prohibition to
take into account cash flows resulting from any additional transformations when estimating fair value has also
removed. Also, replaced of the term ‘point-of-sale costs’ with ‘costs to sell’. However, this standard is not applicable
to the Group.

3. 1 IMPROVEMENTS TO IFRS
In May 2008 the IASB issued its first series of amendments to its standards for making non-urgent amendments
to standards, primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording.
There are separate transitional provisions for each standard. The Fund has decided not to early adopt the following
amendments:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
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IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations: Plan to sell the controlling interest
in a subsidiary
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures: Presentation of finance costs
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Current/non-current classification of derivatives
IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Change in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Status of implementation guidance
IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period: Dividends declared after the end of the reporting period
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Recoverable amount
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Sale of assets held for rental
IAS 18 Revenue: Costs of originating a loan
IAS 19 Employee Benefits: Curtailments and negative past service costs
IAS 19 Employee Benefits: Plan administration costs
IAS 19 Employee Benefits: Replacement of the term ‘fall due’
IAS 19 Employee Benefits: Guidance on contingent liability
IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosures of Government Assistance: Government loans
with a below-market rate of interest
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

4.

IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosures of Government Assistance: Consistency of
terminology with other IFRSs
IAS 23 Borrowing Costs: Components of borrowing costs
IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements: Measurement of subsidiary held for sale in separate
financial statements
IAS 28 Investment in Associates: Required disclosures when investments in associates are accounted for at
fair value through profit or loss
IAS 28 Investment in Associates: Impairment of investment in associate
IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies: Description of measurement basis in financial
statements
IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies: Consistency of terminology with other IFRSs
IAS 31 Interest in Joint ventures: Required disclosures when interests in jointly controlled entities are
accounted for at fair value through profit or loss
IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting: Earnings per share disclosures in interim financial reporting
IAS 36 Impairment of Assets: Disclosure of estimates used to determine recoverable amount
IAS 38 Intangible Assets: Advertising and promotional activities
IAS 38 Intangible Assets: Unit of production method of amortisation
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement: Reclassification of derivatives into or out of
the classification of at fair value through profit or loss
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement: Designation and documentation of hedges at
the segment level
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement: Applicable effective interest rate on cessation
of fair value hedge accounting
IAS 40 Investment Property: Property under construction or development for future use as investment
property
IAS 40 Investment Property: Consistency of terminology with IAS 8, Investment property held under lease
IAS 41 Agriculture: Discount rate for fair value calculations
IAS 41 Agriculture: Additional biological transformations
IAS 41 Agriculture: Examples of agricultural produce and products, Point-of-sale costs

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities at the reporting date. However,
uncertainty about these assumptions and estimate could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to
the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, the directors have made
the following judgements that have the most effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:(i)

Determination of functional currency
The determination of the functional currency of the Group is critical since recording of transactions and
exchange differences arising thereon are dependent on the functional currency selected. As described in Note
2, the directors have considered those factors therein and have determined that the functional currency of
the Group is the United States Dollar.
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(ii)

Fair value of other financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques including comparable valuation and Black Scholes model. The Group uses its
judgement to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at each balance sheet date. The judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk,
credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of
the financial instrument.

(iii)

Impairment of financial assets
The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 to determine when held-to-maturity financial assets and
receivables are impaired.

5.

INTEREST INCOME

Interest income
Interest on debentures
Interest on bonds

Bank interest
Total interest income

6.

2008

2007

USD

USD

335,083
5,067,507

35,754
357,104

5,402,590

392,858

747,593

2,088,478

6,150,183

2,481,336

AGREEMENTS
Investment Management Agreement
Under the Investment Management Agreement, the Company appointed Africa Opportunity Partners Limited (the
“Investment Manager”), an investment management company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, to manage the
operations of the Fund subject to the overall supervision of the Fund’s board as specified in the AIM admission
document of the Company.
Under the Investment Management Agreement, the Manager is paid a management fee which is equal to one
quarter of 2 percent of the quarterly NAV which is payable in US Dollars quarterly in advance on the first Business
Day of each Quarter.
The management fee for the period under review amounts to USD 2,010,654 (2007: USD 1,057,414).
Administrative Agreement
International Proximity had been appointed to provide various administrative services to the Fund and received an
aggregate fee of USD 105,320 (2007: USD 96,000) payable by the Fund for administrative and certain secretarial
services for the Group.
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Custodian Agreement
A Custodian Agreement had been entered into by the Fund and Barclays Bank PLC (Mauritius), whereby Barclays
Bank PLC would provide custodian services to the Fund and would be entitled to a custody fee of between 25-18
basis points per annum of the value of the assets held by the customer and a tariff of between 10 and 45 basis points
per annum of the value of assets held by the custodian.
Broker agreement
Under the Broker Agreement, the Fund appointed LCF Edmond Rothschild Securities Limited (“LCFR”), a
company incorporated in England and Wales to act as Broker to the Fund.
Under the Broker Agreement, the Fund is to pay to LCFR an annual retainer fee of USD 28,958 (£20,000) (2007:
USD 39,946) plus VAT where applicable, payable in advance at six monthly intervals.
Nominated Advisor
Under the engagement letter, Grant Thornton UK LLP is engaged to act as Nominated Advisor to the Fund.
As nominated advisor an ongoing retainer fee of USD 36,197 (£25,000) (2007: USD 49,933) per annum will be
payable quarterly in advance.

7.

HELD-TO-MATURITY FINANCIAL ASSETS

Held-to-maturity:
At 31 December

2008

2007

USD

USD
-

4,535,754

Held-to-maturity financial assets comprise amounts invested by Africa Opportunity Fund L.P in unsecured
guaranteed debentures under the Debenture Subscription Agreement dated 11 December 2007 between:
(i)

Blue Financial Services Limited (“Issuer”) and Blue Employee Benefits (Proprietary) Limited (“Guarantor”)
and Africa Opportunity Fund L.P.

(ii)

Blue Employee Benefits Limited (“Issuer”) and Blue Employee Benefits (Proprietary) Limited (“Guarantor”)
and Africa Opportunity Fund L.P.

The held-to-maturity investments carry interest at the rate of 14.5% per annum. It has been disposed on 30 June
2008, being the maturity date.
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8.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Designated at fair value through profit or loss:
At start of year
Additions
Disposals
Net loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
At 31 December
Net loss on financial assets through profit or loss:
Realised
Unrealised

Analysis of portfolio:
- Listed equity securities
- Listed debt securities
- Unlisted debt securities

9.

2008

2007

USD

USD

52,632,051
76,022,332
(17,657,136)
(53,856,788)

53,288,398
(656,347)

57,140,459

52,632,051

(7,104,816)
(46,757,142)

(656,347)

(53,861,958)

(656,347)

31,698,660
22,167,517
3,274,282

16,342,573
36,289,478
-

57,140,459

52,632,051

2008

2007

USD
1,210,635
83,612

USD
520,321
1,800,000
232,868

1,294,247

2,553,189

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Interest receivable on bonds
Subscription monies
Due from broker

The receivables are neither past due nor impaired. Interest receivable on bonds are due within six months and
amount due from broker is due on demand.

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Fixed deposit account
Call deposit account
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2008

2007

USD
2,671,415

USD
60,562,888
1,264,448

2,671,415

61,827,336
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11. SHARE CAPITAL
2008
Number

2008
USD

2007
Number

2007
USD

Authorised share capital
Ordinary shares with a par
value of USD 0.01

1,000,000,000

10,000,000

2008
Number

2008
USD

1,000,000,000
2007
Number

10,000,000
2007
USD

Share capital
Opening balance
Issue of share
Shares buy back

125,000,000

1,250,000

-

-

-

-

125,000,000

1,250,000

-

-

125,000,000

1,250,000

(9,490,000)
115,510,000

(94,900)
1,155,100

The directors have the general authority to repurchase the ordinary shares in issue subject to the Company having
funds lawfully available for the purpose. However, if the market price of the ordinary shares falls to a discount to
the Net Asset Value, the directors will consult with the Investment Manager as to whether it is appropriate to
instigate a repurchase of ordinary shares.
12.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Dividend Payable
Accrued expenses
Other payables

2008

2007

USD
1,305,263
311,344
-

USD
173,243
54,656

1,616,607

227,899

Other payables are non-interest bearing and is due on demand.

13. LOSS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to equity holders by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue during the period excluding ordinary shares purchased by the Company and held as
treasury shares.
The Company’s diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share, since the Company has not issued any
instrument with dilutive potential.
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2008
Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company

USD

(49,658,231)
122,431,041

Weighted average number of ordinary share in issue
Basic loss per share

2007

US cents

(166,028)
125,000,000

(0.4056)

(0.0013)

14. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
The financial statements include the financial statements of Africa Opportunity Fund Limited (“the Company”)
and the subsidiaries in the following table:
Name

Country of
incorporation

% equity interest
2008

Africa Opportunity Fund (GP) Limited
Africa Opportunity Fund L.P.

Cayman Islands
Cayman Islands

100
98.37

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Company transacted with related entities. The nature, volume and
type of transactions with the entities are as follows:

Name of related parties
Africa Opportunity Partners Limited

Type of
Nature of
relationship
transaction
Investment Management fee
Manager
expense

Volume
USD
2,010,654

Balance at
31 Dec 2008
USD
-

Key Management Personnel (Directors’ fee)
Except for Francis Daniels and Robert Knapp who have waived their fees, each director has been paid a fee of USD
30,000 per annum plus reimbursement for out-of pocket expenses.
Francis Daniels and Robert Knapp who are directors of the Company are also shareholders of the Investment
Manager.
Francis Daniels and Robert Knapp who are directors of the Company also form part of the executive team of the
Investment Manager. They have a beneficiary interest in AOF CarryCo Limited. The latter is entitled to carried
interest computed in accordance with the rules set out in the Admission Document. The total carried interest is
20% shared as follows: 19% to AOF CarryCo Limited and 1% to Millenium Special Opportunities Holdings Ltd
as set out in the side letter agreement to the Partnership Agreement entered into by Africa Opportunity Fund (GP)
Limited, AOF CarryCo Limited, Africa Opportunity Partners Limited and Millenium Special Opportunities
Holdings Ltd.

15. TAXATION
Under the current laws of Cayman Islands, there is no income, estate, transfer sales or other Cayman Islands taxes
payable by the Fund. As a result, no provision for income taxes has been made in the financial statements.
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16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
Introduction
The Group’s objective in managing risk is the creation and protection of shareholder value. Risk is inherent in the
Group’s activities, it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring, subject
to risks limits and other controls. The process of risk management is critical to the Group’s continuing profitability.
The Group is exposed to market risk (which includes currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk arising from the financial instruments it holds.
Risk management structure
The Group’s Investment Manager is responsible for identifying and controlling risks. The Board of Directors
supervises the Investment Manager and is ultimately responsible for the overall risk management approach of the
Group.
Fair value
The carrying amount of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, other receivables,
other payables and accrued expenses approximate their fair value.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices and includes interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and equity price risk. The Group’s
financial assets are susceptible to market risk arising from uncertainties about future prices of the instruments. Since
all securities investments present a risk of loss of capital, the Investment Manager moderates this risk through a
careful selection of securities and other financial instruments. The Group’s overall market positions are monitored
on a daily basis by the Investment Manager.
In determining the change in equity prices, currency rate and interest rate, directors have based themselves on past
performance, current and future economic conditions.
Equity Price Risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities decreases as a result of changes in the levels of the equity
indices and the values of individual stocks. The trading equity risk arises from the Group’s investment portfolio.
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Change in
equity
price
2008
30%
-30%

Effect on
profit before
tax
USD
93,186
-93,187

Effect on
equity
USD
93,186
-93,187

Addax Petroleum

30%
-30%

871,276
-871,276

871,276
-871,276

African Bank Investments Ltd

30%
-30%

1,667,929
-1,667,929

1,667,929
-1,667,929

Copperbelt Energy

30%
-30%

359,717
-359,716

359,717
-359,716

Goldfields Ltd

30%
-30%

1,489,500
-1,489,500

1,489,500
-1,489,500

Mart

30%
-30%

79,426
-79,427

79,426
-79,427

Moto Goldmines

30%
30%

337,181
-337,181

337,181
-337,181

SAPH

30%
-30%

822,743
-822,742

822,743
-822,742

Sonatel

30%
-30%

3,217,307
-3,217,307

3,217,307
-3,217,307

Telkom SA

30%
-30%

408,707
-408,707

408,707
-408,707

Unilever

30%
-30%

112,610
-112,610

112,610
-112,610

Zimplats Holdings

30%
-30%

50,016
-50,016

50,016
-50,016

Stock
Artumus
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Other Price Risk
The valuation method used to fair value the investment made in DiamondCorp Holdings Limited is the
comparable valuation method.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of a possible change in the JCBBAFRI Index by +10% and -10%
and its relative impact on profit before tax and equity.
Change in
index
2008
+10%
-10%

DiamondCorp Holdings Limited

Effect on
profit before
tax
USD
325,852
-325,852

Effect on
equity
USD
325,852
-325,852

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the rate of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Group’s investments are denominated in various currencies as shown in the currency profile below.
Consequently, the Group is exposed to the risk that the exchange rate of the United States Dollar (USD) relative
to these various currencies may change in a manner, which has a material effect on the reported values of its assets
denominated in those currencies.
The currency profile of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities is summarised as follows:
2008

Canadian dollar
Norwegian Kroner
Tanzanian Shilling
Ghanain Cedi
CFA Franc
Euro
Great Britain Pound
United States Dollar
South African Rand
Zambian Kwacha
Australian dollars

2007

Financial
assets

Financial
Liabilities

Financial
assets

Financial
Liabilities

USD
7,855,461
1,520,049
5,085,397
13,842,200
5,354,150
16,931,745
6,922,120
3,428,281
166,718

USD

USD

11,796
1,604,811
-

USD
3,380,409
10,770,986
8,707,433
4,112,420
7,502,304
87,074,778
-

16,147
102,086
109,666
-

61,106,121

1,616,607

121,548,330

227,899
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The sensitivity analysis show how the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates against the US Dollar, the functional currency of the Group.
Change in
Currency
2008
+30%
-30%

Effect on
profit before
tax
USD
-2,076,636
2,076,636

Effect on
Net assets
USD
2,076,636
-2,076,636

Tanzanian Shilling

+30%
-30%

-1,494,853
1,494,853

1,494,853
-1,494,853

Zambian Kwacha

+30%
-30%

-954,476
954,476

954,476
-954,476

CFA Franc

+10%
-10%

-1,384,220
1,384,220

1,384,220
-1,384,220

Canadian Dollar

+5%
-5%

-389,413
389,413

389,413
-389,413

Euro

+5%
-5%

-251,113
251,113

251,113
-251,113

Norwegian Kroner

+5%
-5%

-69,979
69,979

69,979
-69,979

Australian dollar

+5%
-5%

-8,336
8,336

8,336
-8,336

Currency
South African Rand

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair values
of financial instruments. The fair values of the Group’s debt securities fluctuate in response to changes in market
interest rates. Increases and decreases in prevailing interest rates generally translate into decreases and increases in
fair values of those instruments.

50

AOF Annual Report

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)
for the year ended 31 December 2008

The following table summarises the estimated effects of the reasonably possible change in interest rates on assets
and liabilities that are subject to interest rate risk. It is assumed that changes occur immediately and uniformly to
each category of instrument containing interest rate risk. The hypothetical changes in market interest rates do not
reflect what could be deemed best or worst case scenarios. Therefore, actual rates might differ from those reflected
in the table.

Financial assets

Change in
interest rate
2008

Effect on profit
before tax
USD

Effect on
equity
USD

Ivory Coast Sphynx 10% 28/01/11

+100 bps
-100 bps

-91,829
+92,459

-91,829
+92,459

ADB TZS bond 5/7/09-13.75%

+100 bps
-100 bps

-21,629
+12,305

-21,629
+12,305

Marine Subsea Nok 7.5 Conv. 09/16/12

+100 bps
-100 bps

-34,233
+35,219

-34,233
+35,219

Katanga Mining 11/30/13

+100 bps
-100 bps

-119,809
+123,062

-119,809
+123,062

EIB 12.25% bond 2/26/2010

+100 bps
-100 bps

-21,400
+20,182

-21,400
+20,182

Addax Petro 3.75 CB Bonds 5/30/12

+100 bps
-100bps

-39,414
+40,868

-39,414
+40,868

DiamondCorp

+100 bps
-100 bps

-64,329
+63,233

-64,329
+63,233

Credit Risk
Financial assets that potentially expose the Group to credit risk consist principally of investments in debt and equity
securities, cash balances and interest receivable. The extent of the Group’s exposure to credit risk in respect of these
financial assets approximates their carrying values as recorded in the Fund’s balance sheet.
The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in
full when due. The Group’s main credit risk concentration is its financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
With respect to credit risk arising from financial assets which comprise of held-to-maturity financial assets, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, other receivables and cash and cash equivalents, the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arises from the default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of
these financial assets.
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The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit
risk at the balance sheet date was:
Notes

Debt securities
Held-to-maturity financial assets
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

8
7
9
10

Carrying
amount
31 December
2008

Carrying
amount
31 December
2007

USD
25,441,799
1,294,247
2,671,415

USD
36,289,478
4,535,754
2,553,189
61,827,336

The financial assets are neither past due nor impaired at balance sheet date.
The financial assets are neither past due nor impaired at balance sheet date. The cash and cash equivalent assets of
the Group are maintained with Barclays Bank PLC, Mauritius branch. Barclays Bank has an Aa2 issuer rating from
Moody’s rating agency, P1 short term rating from Moodys rating agency, an AA- issuer rating from Standard and
Poor’s rating agency, and a A-1+ short term rating from Standard and Poor’s rating agency. Except for the African
Development Bank, which has a AAA rating from both Moodys’ and Standard and Poor’s rating agencies, all other
issuers of debt instrument owned by the Group are unrated. The issuers of the unrated debt instruments owned by
the Group are reputable companies which do not envisage obtaining ratings, and have the ability to repay any debt
or redeem any security as it falls due or as when required.
Concentration risk
At 31 December 2008, the Group held investments in Africa which involves certain considerations and risks not
typically associated with investments in other developed countries. Future economic and political developments in
Africa could affect the operations of the investee companies.
Analysed by geographical distribution of underlying assets:
Bonds and notes
2008
Ivory coast
Tanzania
Angola
Congo
South Africa
Zambia
Nigeria
Ghana
Uganda
Total
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Bonds and notes
2007

USD
5,022,265
4,982,843
4,422,459
3,495,316
3,274,287
1,982,534
2,262,100
-

11,731,269
23,469,625
4,112,420
1,511,918

25,441,804

40,825,232

USD
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Securities
2008

Securities
2007

USD
11,887,125
10,724,351
3,169,008
3,117,844
1,199,054
1,123,937
310,622
166,719

USD

South Africa
Senegal
Nigeria
Ivory coast
Zambia
Congo
Tanzania
Zimbabwe

7,502,304
3,380,409
5,459,860
-

Total

31,698,660

16,342,573

Analysed by geographical distribution of underlying assets:
Bonds and notes
2008

Bonds and notes
2007

USD

USD

Analysed by industry:
Oil services industry
Supranational development institution
Sovereign debt
Consumer finance
Mining industry

10,179,875
6,965,377
5,022,265
3,274,287

23,469,625
8,707,433
4,112,420
4,535,754
-

Total

25,441,804

40,825,232

Equity
Securities
2008

Equity
Securities
2007

USD

USD

Analysed by industry:
Consumer products and services
Mining industry
Consumer finance
Oil services industry

16,403,612
6,255,656
5,559,762
3,479,630

7,502,304
8,840,269

Total

31,698,660

16,342,573

2008

2007

USD

USD

Reconciliation with balance sheet
Investments held in Africa
Bank deposit in Mauritius
Other financial assets in non African countries

57,140,459
2,671,415
1,294,247

40,825,232
61,827,336
18,895,762

Total

61,106,121

121,548,330
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity
to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses
or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, by continuously monitoring forecast and
actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of the financial assets and liabilities. The table below illustrates
the aged analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash flows.

2007

Due on
demand

Due
within
3 months

Due
Between
3 and
12 months

Total

USD

USD

USD

USD

Liabilities
Accrued expenses

227,899

-

-

227,899

Total Liabilities

227,899

-

-

227,899

2008

Due on
demand

Due
within
3 months

Due
between
3 and
12 months

USD

USD

USD

Total
USD

Liabilities
Accrued expenses

1,616,607

-

-

1,616,607

Total Liabilities

1,616,607

-

-

1,616,607

Capital Management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.
Total capital is treated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated balance sheet.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders and return capital to shareholders.
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17. DIVIDEND PAYMENT
The Company expressed in the Admission Document for the AIM Market of the London Stock Exchange on
which it was listed an intention, subject to having sufficient cash resources, to pay an aggregate annual dividend of
an amount equal to the product of the net asset value of the Company on January 01 in each year multiplied by
the three month US Dollar London Interbank Offered Rate (derived from Bloomberg) on the same date, payable
in four equal quarterly instalments payable in March 2008.
Accordingly such dividend payments were made during the financial year 2008.
Dividend
2008
Dividend declared and paid in 2008
Dividend declared not yet paid

Dividend per share
2008

USD
4,181,000
1,305,263

USD
-

5,486,263

0.045

18. EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE
Tender offer
On 4 February 2009, the Board of Directors of the Company resolved to make a tender offer, conditional upon
shareholder approval , to purchase ordinary shares in issue. A circular setting out the terms and conditions of the
Company was posted to the shareholders of the Company to that effect, and was subsequently approved by the
shareholders.
The tender offer process closed on 26 February 2009 and the Company received irrevocable tender forms from its
shareholders in respect of 72,879,673 ordinary shares in the Company, which represent 63.09% of the issued
ordinary shares eligible for tender pursuant to the tender offer. Effective as of the Calculation date of 27 February
2009, the tendered shares were treated as purchased and cancelled with applicable Tender Consideration left
outstanding as a deferred liability of the Company.
The resulting ordinary shares outstanding subsequent to the cancellation of the tendered shares is 42,630,327.
Effective 4 March 2009, the Company’s ordinary shares were de-listed from the Official List of the Channel Islands
Stock Exchange, LBG and shares are exclusively traded on the AIM Market of the London Stock Exchange.
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Share price
Prices of Africa Opportunity Fund Limited are published daily in the Daily Official List of the London Stock
Exchange. The shares trade under Reuters symbol “AOF.L” and Bloomberg symbol “AOF LN”.

Manager
Africa Opportunity Partners Limited.

Company Information
Africa Opportunity Fund Limited is a Cayman Islands incorporated closed-end investment company admitted to
trading on the AIM market operated by the London Stock Exchange and listed on the Channel Islands
Stock Exchange.

Capital structure
The Company has an authorized share capital of 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of US$0.01 each of which
115,510,000 are issued and fully paid.

Life of the Company
The Company does not have a fixed life, but the directors consider it desirable that its shareholders should have the
opportunity to review the future of the Company at appropriate intervals. The Directors will convene a general
meeting in 2014 where a resolution will be proposed that the Company will continue in existence. If the resolution
is not passed, the Directors will be required to formulate proposals to be put to shareholders to reorganize,
reconstruct or wind up the Company. If the resolution is passed, the Company will continue its operations and a
similar resolution will be put to shareholders every five years thereafter.

Registered Number
Registered in the Cayman Islands number MC-188243

Website
www.africaopportunityfund.com
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c/o International Proximity
608 St James Court, St Denis Street, Port Louis, Mauritius
+230 210 9000
www.africaopportunityfund.com

